017

CASE NO. 83,216

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PATRICK ALAN SALGAT, :

Petitioner,

v.

:

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,

IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GLEN P. GIFFORD
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0664261
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

###

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case is before the court on discretionary review of the decision of the district court of appeal, on jurisdictional grounds of a certified question of great public importance. Petitioner raises six issues herein. Point I concerns the certified question, Points II and III issues addressed by the district court, and Points IV-VI issues raised below but not addressed, each bearing on the applicability of felony murder to the circumstances of this case.

In this brief, record references appear as (R[page number]).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Salgat was indicted on charges of grant theft, witness tampering, burglary of a dwelling while armed, shooting into a building, attempted first degree murder, first degree murder and use of a firearm in the commission of a felony. (R1905-1907)

Judge Nancy Gilliam presided over a jury trial on the charges.

(R1, 176-177) At the close of the state's case, defense counsel moved for judgment of acquittal on all counts. (R1005-1012)

Among other arguments, counsel asserted that the state had

presented no proof of entry, an essential element of burglary.

(R1007-1009) The court denied the motion at that time, and again when it was renewed at the close of all evidence. (R1013)

During the charge conference, the judge announced without objection that she would instruct the jury on transferred intent as part of the murder instructions. (R1210) The state proposed a special instruction defining curtilage as part of the burglary count. (R1227) Defense counsel opposed the instruction, and the judge decided to use an amended version of the state's proposed instruction which she perceived as closer to the standard instruction. (R1230) Defense counsel maintained his objection. (R1230) Defense counsel objected to an instruction on consciousness of guilt stemming from inconsistent exculpatory statements. (R1252) Counsel also expressed his distaste for the instruction on flight, but said he felt he could not object in good faith. (R1250)

The court instructed the jury in accord with its decisions in the charge conference. (R1381-1391) The jury eventually returned verdicts of guilty as charged of grand theft, witness tampering, armed burglary, shooting into a building, and use of a firearm in the commission of felony. (R1435, 2014-2107) On the remaining counts, the jury found Salgat guilty of first degree murder and attempted first degree murder, interlineating the word "felony" before murder and crossing out the words "as charged" on each count. (R1435, 2016) Given an opportunity, the state made no objection to the verdicts on these counts. (R1440)

At the conclusion of the penalty phase, the jury unanimously recommended life imprisonment without possibility of parole for 25 years. (R1858, 2026) At the sentencing hearing, the judge announced that she had prepared a departure order on the noncapital offenses the previous evening. (R1897) In the oral pronouncement and order, the court specified three reasons for departure: threats to a witness, commission of a capital offense which could not be scored, and escalating pattern of criminal conduct. (R1897-1899, 2033) The court imposed a mandatory life sentence for the murder, consecutive to two consecutive life sentences for the burglary and attempted murder, and consecutive to concurrent 15-year sentences on the crimes of shooting into a building and use of a firearm in the commission of a felony. (R1900, 2035-2044) The court also imposed concurrent five-year sentences for grand theft and witness tampering, concurrent to the 15-year terms, but consecutive to the life sentences. (R1900, 2035-2044)

Salgat raised eight points on direct appeal; the district court addressed four. It affirmed the conviction for attempted felony murder but vacated the accompanying sentence, ruling dual punishments unlawful because the attempt merged into the completed murder. The court rejected Salgat's claim that he was unlawfully convicted and sentenced both for felony murder and the underlying felony. Finally, it deemed unpreserved his argument asserting error in an instruction to the jury on inconsistent exculpatory statements. However, finding that the issue prompted an important question about the continued validity of the

instruction, the court certified the following question of great public importance:

WHETHER A JURY INSTRUCTION CONCERNING A DEFENDANT'S INCONSISTENT EXCULPATORY STATE-MENTS PREVIOUSLY HELD PROPER UNDER JOHNSON V. STATE CONSTITUTES AN IMPROPER COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE IN LIGHT OF THE COURT'S DECISION IN FENELON V. STATE.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The events resulting in this appeal arose from a relationship between the petitioner, Patrick "Sonny" Salgat, and Charlotte Blevins.

Blevins was the chief state witness. She testified that she met Salgat in December 1989 while she was in the midsts of a divorce. (R498) Blevins moved in with Salgat, and moved with him to a new residence. (R499) She eventually moved into her own house in Gulf Breeze on April 15, 1990, after her renters vacated it. (R499) Blevins testified that Salgat became abusive and violent, and that he wanted to move into her home. (R500) relationship broke off. (R502) Blevins testified that on May 15, 1990, Salgat came to her house and said he wanted them to be friends. (R502) She allowed him to remain there while she jogged, and they made plans to go out together afterward. (R503) When Blevins returned from her run, Salgat was gone. (R503) of her jewelry was also missing. (R503) Salgat had given her some of the missing items, but Blevins estimated the value of the remainder of the missing jewelry at \$5,500 to \$6,000. (R504) She said Salgat called her on the telephone and said he'd taken the jewelry because she cared more about the items than him. (R505)

Blevins called police and filled out a theft complaint. (R505) She also had the locks to her house changed, and bought a gun. (R505) Salgat called several times to say he'd return the jewelry, but never followed through. (R506) When he learned of the theft complaint, he told her he would return the jewelry only after she dropped the charges. (R507) He told her that if he had to sit in jail one minute someone would pay for it. (R507) He also threatened to kill her, she said. (R507) In response to the threats, Blevins went to the state attorney's office to try to drop the charges. (R508) There she met an investigator, Steven Bolyard, who convinced her that the harassment would continue unless she stood firm. (R508) An additional charge of witness tampering was filed against Salgat. (R508)

Salgat was arrested on the theft and witness tampering charges on June 13, 1990. (R300, 317) An officer arranged his release from jail the next day in exchange for his promise to help in a narcotics investigation. (R788) As a condition of Salgat's release, he was to have no contact with Blevins. (R788, 791) Blevins left town for several days before Salgat's arrest, and learned upon her return that he had been released. (R517-519) She returned to her home Sunday, June 17. (R519) Bolyard arrived and stayed to drink a beer. (R527) Salgat called, and Bolyard listened to the message. (R526) Bolyard told Blevins that since Salgat made no threats, it would be better to let him remain free because returning him to jail would only make him angrier. (R526) Blevins gave Bolyard a tape of messages left by Salgat during Blevins' two-week absence. (R520) Salgat was angry and

threatening in some of the calls, resigned, frustrated and acquiescent in others. (R521-526) In one call he suggested Blevins was involved with someone else. (R521-526)

On Monday, June 18, Blevins agreed to meet Salgat at Pizza Hut so she could return some of his property from their time together. (R528) He was calm and nonthreatening when they made the arrangements, Blevins said. (R528) En route, Blevins spoke on the telephone to Bolyard. (R529) They made arrangements to meet that evening at her house. (R529) Bolyard said he would bring wine. (R529) At Pizza Hut, Salgat said he wanted to remain friends with Blevins. (R529) She accepted \$300 for an outstanding phone bill at his insistence. (R530) They moved his property from her car to his. (R530) Salgat asked Blevins to meet him that evening for dinner. (R530) She testified that though he was insistent, she refused, making excuses. (R530) Later that afternoon, Salgat called Blevins, upset that his probation officer said his probation would be violated because he had contacted her. (R531) She said she calmed him down. (R531)

That evening, Blevins returned home from a dinner out with friends. (R531) Bolyard arrived at 8:30 p.m. in running shorts, a T-shirt and boat shoes. (R531) He brought wine coolers, which they drank over ice while watching television. (R532) Blevins declined to answer repeated phone calls, which she thought were from Salgat. (R533) In a tape of these calls, Salgat is heard complaining in one message, in which he said the time was 10:50, that he had been stood up. He said he had to know if she was seeing anyone else. (R567-568) In another message, Salgat is

heard saying that he would have gotten her if he'd wanted, and vowing "I will get you." (R566) The record does not reveal the sequence of these calls. A bartender at a lounge frequented by Salgat testified that Salgat was there from 9:00 until 10:30 p.m., and made at least one phone call during that time. (R779-780)

Blevins testified that as she sat in her living room with Bolyard, the doorbell rang. (R533) Blevins indicated she wasn't expecting anyone, and Bolyard directed her toward the door. (R533) Asked who was there, Salgat identified himself. (R533) Bolyard went toward the phone while Blevins went to her bedroom for her gun. (R533) Bolyard knew she had the gun, she said. (R533) Blevins testified that Salgat started banging on the door. (R534) Blevins returned to the living room with her gun and let Bolyard know she had it. (R535) He had the telephone in hand. (R535) Blevins heard shots. (R535) Bolyard yelled, "Oh my God," and ran toward the door. (R535) Blevins retreated to the shower of her bathroom. (R535-536) Thinking an empty chamber was beneath the hammer, she fired once toward the window. (R537) A shot rang out. (R537) Blevins went into the living room, where she noticed the knob lock was on but the deadbolt off. (R537) She hit the deadbolt, heard shots outside and ran back to her bedroom. (R537) She eventually dialed 911, and police arrived later. (R538) In her call to the emergency operator, she said Salgat "was going to shoot me. I know he shot Steve." (R544)

Charles Kunze, a neighbor of Blevins, testified that on June 18, 1990, he noticed an orange-red, later model car parked on the

street. (R249) He described it as a well cared-for "muscle car" with someone inside. (R248) Several minutes later, he heard two shots close together. (R250) Twenty seconds later, he heard four more shots, staggered. (R250) Kunze went to the front door of his house, where he heard the voices of two men arguing. (R251) Shortly thereafter, he saw a man jogging down the middle of the street saying, "I'm shot, help me." (R251) The man slowed to a walk as he coughed and held his side. (R252) Kunze then heard a motor start, an engine rev loudly and tires squeal. (R252) The sound came from where Kunze had seen the car parked earlier. (R252) Kunze stepped back inside and closed the door until the car passed. (R252) When he looked out again, the man who had been in the street was at a neighbor's door, begging for help. (R253) The neighbor let him in. (R253)

Robin Koller, a guest in the house of the neighbors, Ron

Frye and Debbie Collier, said she heard five shots. (R261) It

sounded as if more than one gun was firing, she testified. (R261)

Bolyard, who was shot, came to the house a short time later.

(R262) Despite the assistance provided by the two women, who

were nursing students, and paramedics who arrived, the man died.

(R262-279)

Steven Bolyard died of a wound from a bullet that entered the left side of his back and came to rest near his chest. (R897) He also had two superficial head wounds. (R897) The bullet jackets from these wounds were removed from the fleshy part of his neck during the autopsy. (R896-898) The medical examiner testified that Bolyard was wearing a T-shirt and unlined shorts,

but no underwear. (R904-906) The shorts were not retained for testing. (R412, 905)

Bolyard's state vehicle was parked at Blevins' house at the time of the shooting. (R924) A colleague of Bolyard testified that, with the police radio antennae, the car looked like an unmarked police vehicle. (R924) The car was locked. (R490) Inside were Bolyard's police radio, badge and gun. (R490) A neighbor of Blevins who lived at 3349 Maplewood noticed damage to his car the next day. (R455) Laboratory analysts testified that a lead core removed from the vehicle matched the lead cores found in air conditioning housing inside Blevins' house. (R458, 968) The shot appeared to have come from the direction of Blevins' house, 3330 Maplewood. (R456) Inside Blevins' house, authorities found bullet holes in the kitchen and bathroom windows. bathroom window had frosted glass. (R984-985) An expert concluded that the holes in the kitchen window were made by projectiles fired from the outside in. (R978) From findings of lead vapors, the expert estimated the distance of the gun muzzle to both windows at three to four feet when the shots were fired. (R976, 988) Another state witness testified that a gun shot through the kitchen window from five to six feet away necessarily would have been fired by someone on the deck outside the house. (R992) The deck runs behind the house, outside the kitchen and bathroom windows and sliding glass doors. (R347) Miniblinds inside the kitchen window were found partially open after the shooting. (R350) The analyst did not determine the gap between the blinds and windowsill in Blevins' bedroom. (R420) She did find two

partially filled wine glasses in the refrigerator with five unopened wine coolers, and five empty wine cooler bottles in the kitchen. (R421) A pair of deck shoes was found under the coffee table in the living room. (R354)

Keith Steely, the son of Charlotte Blevins' friends, testified that after her mother was called to comfort Blevins following the shooting, a man called and asked for Blevins. (R860-861) The man, who identified himself as Sonny, said Charlotte could not hide forever. (R861)

After the shooting, Salgat enlisted the help of a number of friends in an attempt to evade capture. (R637-680, 744-782) He gave them several different versions of events. He told one friend he had shot the other man in self-defense, but feared no one would believe him since he was not supposed to be at Blevins' house. (R648) Salgat was arrested the next day at the home of a friend. (R751) In the interim, he had hidden the gun, abandoned his car and identification, and shaved his mustache. (R466, 634, 761, 837) Jacqueline Steely, a friend of Blevins, testified that while Blevins was in protective custody at her home in Flomaton, Alabama on the morning after the shooting, Salgat called. (R874) According to Steely, Salgat said he meant to kill the "SOB" who arrested him, and that he wanted Blevins to see the killing. (R875) He said he'd found Blevins and Bolyard having sex on the couch. (R875) Steely was informed of Salgat's arrest within 20 minutes of the call. (R875)

Several witnesses testified for the defense. Michelle Deck stated that on the evening before the shooting, Salgat was upset at Charlotte because she had "really screwed him over." (R1039)
The next day, Salgat asked to come over, but called several times throughout the evening to say he was delayed because he was waiting for someone. (R1043) On the day of the shooting, a woman with whom Salgat was staying, Virginia Billing, said Salgat had lunch with Blevins. (R1060) Billing's daughter Christina said Salgat dressed to go out that evening, and left around 9:30 p.m. (R1066) His demeanor was comfortable and confident, she said. (R1067)

Salgat testified that he loved Charlotte Blevins very much.

(R1129) He said they frequently argued during the course of their relationship, but at Blevins' urging, reconciled. (R1128) The reconciliations usually occurred during the first of the month, then the arguments resumed after he paid the bills.

(R1128) During an argument on May 19, 1990, Salgat took jewelry he had given her, saying the jewelry meant more to her than he did. (R1129) He noticed later that he had also taken a ring she owned before they met. (R1131) A short time later, after returning from a trip to California, he returned the ring and money he owed her for a phone bill, he said. (R1135)

Blevins met him for lunch on the day of the shooting, Salgat said. (R1145) Their conversation was cordial, and she reluctantly agreed to take money for the cost of his calls to her car phone. (R1145) They transferred his property to his car. (R1146) He invited her out that evening. (R1147) She said she had plans, but Salgat remained hopeful that she would meet him for drinks at one of two spots they frequented. (R1148) That evening, he went

to each bar in hopes that she would show. (R1147, 1150) When she failed to appear, he called several times and left messages on her answering machine. (R1151) Concerned that something was wrong, he went by her house. (R1151) Salgat said he started carrying a gun after he had been threatened several days earlier. (R1151) A defense witness had testified to that incident, which occurred at a bar. (R1086-1091)

Salgat stopped his car on the street near Blevins' house after seeing a strange car in her driveway. (R1151) He tried to look in the living room window, but couldn't see anything through the drapes and the low light. (R1153) He looked through the kitchen window, but saw no one inside. (R1153) He noticed a light in Blevins' bedroom. (R1155) Looking through a space below the blinds in the bedroom window, Salgat saw Blevins and a man having sex in her bed. (R1155) The sight made him sick to his stomach, he said. (R1158) He could not identify the man. (R1155) After a few minutes, he rang the front doorbell, then went back to the kitchen window. (R1155) He saw Blevins go to the door naked and ask who it was. (R1155) She then said she thought it was Sonny and mentioned a gun. (R1155) Salgat moved to the bedroom window, where he saw the man pulling on shorts. (R1156) As Salgat moved toward the kitchen window, a shot came through the bathroom window, narrowly missing him. (R1156) stumbled back, then saw through the kitchen window a man with something in his hand, (R1157) Thinking the man had just shot at him, Salgat fired twice into the kitchen window. (R1157) He then took off running. As he rounded the corner outside the house,

the man confronted him. (R1157) Salgat thought the man had a gun, because of the shot from inside the house. (R1158) In the dark, Salgat fired twice more. (R1157) The man then started running down the road. (R1157) Salgat walked to his car, got in, and drove by the limping man. (R1157-1158) Salgat was still uncertain of the man's identity. (R1158) He said he did not think he had hit the man, and could have shot him again on the road with the bullet remaining in his gun. (R1159-1161)

Salgat testified that he was confused after the shooting. (R1162) He hid the gun in the utility room of a friend's home. (R1162) He hit a fence backing out of the driveway and lost his sense of direction. (R1162) He parked the car and started walking because he was too rattled to drive. (R1162, 1182) Salgat said he did not intend to assault or murder anyone when he approached Blevins' house. (R1164) He said he fired only after a shot was fired at him. (R1164) He recalled leaving a message on her machine after the shooting, but meant only that if he had intended to kill anyone, both Bolyard and Blevins would have been dead. (R1174) He did not recall saying he would get Blevins in that message. (R1174) He also said he did not learn Bolyard's identity until the next morning's news. (R1185)

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. An instruction on inconsistent exculpatory statements as evidence of consciousness of guilt and unlawful intent is improper, for the same reasons this court banned the flight instruction. Like the flight instruction, the charge on inconsistent

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