#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PATRICK ALAN SALGAT,

SID J. WHITE

FILED

APR 11 1994

By-

Petitioner,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT **Chief Deputy Clerk** 

v.

CASE NO. 83,216

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

#### MERITS BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN J. MOSLEY, #593280 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS, #325791 BUREAU CHIEF-CRIMINAL APPEALS

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

(R. 746) At approximately 2:30 a.m. on the same date, Salgat told Michelle Deck and Victoria Howard essentially the same story as he had told Ramon Issacs. (R. 757, 774) Later that morning, he told Michelle Deck a different story:

> He said that he went over there and the door was open and he walked in and caught them in the act and that the guy reached for his gun and they struggled with it and the gun went off and he ran.

(R. 760)

On June 19, 1990 at 8:30 a.m., Salgat told Jane Fillingim the following story:

Monday evening [Salgat] was at the Shaker and he, uh, got a phone call there and Charlotte asked him to come over to her house. So he says he went to her house. He didn't say how he got in or who let him in or anything. I -- I guess the door -- from what he says, the door could have -- must have been open, but he says that he went into the bedroom and that Charlotte was in bed with a guy. He did not mention any names and he said that, uh, when he walked in the room and they saw who it was, the guy pulled out a gun and was going to shoot him, but they had a struggle or fight or something and Sonny said he ended up shooting the guy."

(R. 656)

The night after the incident, Salgat told Christina Billing he had been set up. (R. 711) During the charge conference, the State requested the

following jury instruction:

Inconsistent exculpatory statements can be used to affirmatively show consciousness of guilt and unlawful intent.

(R. 1251, 1391-1392) The following colloquy ensued:

THE COURT: Inconsistent exculpatory statements can be used to affirmatively show consciousness of guilt and unlawful intent. It comes straight out of the case of <u>Johnson</u> <u>v. State</u> at 465 So. 2d 499, a 1985 Florida Supreme Court case where that particular instruction was given to a jury and the Supreme Court held that that was a proper instruction. I would assume that Mr. Taylor [defense counsel] that you would object to the giving of that?

DEFENSE COUNSEL: I in general would object to that [instruction on inconsistent exculpatory statements] but it seemed to me that the facts of the Johnson case -- I'm trying to, there was no, there's no question in this particular case as to, in our case who shot the weapon, you know, what bullet killed the defendant. There's never been a denial by Mr. Salgat or the defense in this case as to what, who shot or what caused the death and as such I think that can be distinguished from Johnson. The fact that there were inconsistent statements made at a time based on the testimony of confusion and stress, it's different then what, then that which was under the facts of Johnson and therefore, I think it can be distinguished and I object to the state's requested No. 3.

THE COURT: Mr. Markey [prosecutor], anything further?

PROSECUTOR: Well, other than the fact that, Your Honor, in accident and misfortune you don't have consciousness of guilt. I mean that's the whole function, he gave multiple exculpatory statements to a variety of number of people and it's, very inconsistent statements that shows the consciousness that

- 3 -

it was an unlawful as opposed to a justifiable killing or excusable killing. I mean he can argue that it's not but I mean that --

THE COURT: I think again based upon the facts of this particular case and we're dealing with the issue of intent, that this is a fact for the jury to make a decision on and that this is an appropriate instruction that will be given.

(R. 1252-1253)

On appeal to the First District Court of Appeal, Salgat argued that the trial court committed reversible error in giving the jury instruction based on the following ground:

> The instruction on inconsistent exculpatory statements was in error, for the same reasons the Florida Supreme Court recently banned the flight instruction. This was an improper comment on the evidence which contaminated the jury's assessment of appellant's mental state in committing the burglary that underlay his felony murder convictions.

(I.B. 26) The State argued that (1) the issue was procedurally barred because the ground raised on appeal was different from the one raised at trial; (2) the issue was without merit; and (3) any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. (A.B. 16-20)

In its opinion, the First District stated:

Salgat asserts that the trial court erred in instructing the jury that Salgat's inconsistent exculpatory statements may be used to affirmatively show consciousness of guilt and unlawful intent and cites <u>Fenelon</u> <u>v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 1992) (Supreme Court held that the jury instruction on flight was an improper judicial comment on the evidence and should no longer be given). The Florida Supreme Court has already decided that such an instruction is not an improper judicial comment on the evidence. Johnson v.

State, 465 So. 2d 499 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 865, 106 S.Ct. 186, 88 L.Ed.2d 155. Accordingly, Salgat's counsel at trial argued that the present case was distinguishable from Johnson because there was no dispute that Salgat shot Bolyard, and therefore the instruction was unnecessary. We find that Salgat's argument on appeal was not properly preserved for appellate review. See Graves v. State, 548 So. 2d 801 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). Therefore, we decline to address its merits and affirm the giving of the instruction based on Johnson, supra.

(Slip Opinion, 6-7) (e.s.)

Even though the First District expressly held that the issue was procedurally barred, it, nevertheless, certified the issue to this Court as one of great public importance. It stated:

> We do find that Salgat's appellate counsel raises an important question about whether <u>Johnson</u> may be reconciled under the Supreme Court's recent decision of <u>Fenelon v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 1992). Accordingly, we certify the following question to the Supreme Court as a question of great public importance:

WHETHER A JURY INSTRUCTION CONCERNING A DEFENDANT'S INCONSISTENT EXCULPATORY STATEMENTS PREVIOUSLY HELD PROPER UNDER JOHNSON V. STATE CONSTITUTES AN IMPROPER COMMENT UPON THE EVIDENCE IN LIGHT OF THE COURT'S DECISION IN FENELON V. STATE.

(Slip Opinion, 7)

In a motion for rehearing, the State strongly urged the First District to withdraw its certified question, arguing, in pertinent part:

> There is absolutely no way the defendant in this case can obtain relief on this issue in the Florida Supreme Court. The issue before the supreme court will be whether the trial court committed fundamental error when it

۲

instructed the jury on the instruction at issue here. This is so because the issue was not preserved for appeal, and the only other type of error reviewable on appeal is fundamental error (unpreserved error).

How could the Florida Supreme Court ever hold that fundamental error occurred under the circumstances of the instant case? To do so, it would have to hold that the trial court had an affirmative duty to refuse to give the instruction, notwithstanding supreme court precedent expressly authorizing it. (Fundamental error means that the trial court had an affirmative duty <u>sua sponte</u> to correct the error.)

(Rehearing motion, 2) Without comment, the First District denied the State's motion.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Since the certified question was not preserved for appeal, this Court should decline to accept jurisdiction. If jurisdiction is accepted and the question addressed, the answer to the certified question is a resounding "No." Legislative restrictions on judicial comment do not extend to presumptive instructions, which merely inform the jury of a permissible outcome. The test for determining whether such an instruction should be given is whether it is more likely than not that the presumed fact flows from the proven fact. That test was amply satisfied in the instant case. Salgat told four inconsistent exculpatory stories from which his commission of an unlawful homicide could be inferred.

The other <u>five</u> issues are beyond the scope of the certified question, and this Court should decline to address them.

- 7 -

#### ARGUMENT

#### CERTIFIED QUESTION

WHETHER A JURY INSTRUCTION CONCERNING A DEFENDANT'S INCONSISTENT EXCULPATORY STATEMENTS PREVIOUSLY HELD PROPER UNDER JOHNSON V. STATE CONSTITUTES AN IMPROPER COMMENT UPON THE EVIDENCE IN LIGHT OF THE COURT'S DECISION IN FENELON V. STATE.

<u>PROCEDURE.</u> It is hornbook law that appellate courts review the case tried in the trial court; they should not try everchanging theories fashioned by the defendant as he progresses through the appellate process. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.390(d) provides:

> No party may raise on appeal the giving or failure to give an instruction unless the party objects thereto before the jury retires to consider its verdict, stating distinctly the matter to which the party objects and the grounds of the objection.

In <u>City of Orlando v. Birmingham</u>, 539 So. 2d 1133, 1134-35 (Fla. 1989), this Court explained the rationale for the contemporaneous objection rule as it relates to jury instructions:

> [I]n criminal cases where the alleged error is giving or failing to give a particular jury instruction, this Court has refused to allow parties to object to the instruction for the first time on appeal. The requirement of a timely objection is based on practical necessity and basic fairness in the operation of the judicial system. A timely objection puts the trial judge on notice that an error may have occurred and thus provides the opportunity to correct the error at an early stage of the proceedings. It is essential that objections to jury instructions be timely made so that cases can be resolved expeditiously. In the absence of

> > - 8 -

a timely objection, the trial judge does not have the opportunity to rule upon a specific point of law. Consequently, no issue is preserved for appellate review. [citations omitted]

See, also, Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978).

The <u>Birmingham</u> explanation for the contemporaneous objection rule is echoed in <u>State v. Applegate</u>, 591 P.2d 371, 373 (Ore. App. 1979):

> There are many rationales for the raise-orwaive rule: that it is a necessary corollary of our adversary system in which issues are framed by the litigants and presented to a court; that fairness to all parties requires a litigant to advance his contentions at a time when there is an opportunity to respond to them factually, if his opponent chooses to; that the rule promotes efficient trial proceedings; that reversing for error not preserved permits the losing side to secondquess its tactical decisions after they do not produce the desired result; and that there is something unseemly about telling a lower court it was wrong when it never was presented with the opportunity to be right. The principal rationale, however, is judicial economy. There are two components to judicial economy: (1) if the losing side can obtain an appellate reversal because of error not objected to, the parties and public are put to the expense of retrial that could have been avoided had an objection been made; and (2) if an issue had been raised in the trial court, it could have been resolved there, and the parties and public would be spared the expenses of an appeal.

For thirty years or more, this Court has consistently refused to reverse convictions based on <u>unpreserved errors in</u> jury instructions. <u>See, e.g., Brown v. State</u>, 124 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1960) (lesser degree of unlawful homicide); <u>State v. Bryan</u>, 287 So.2d 73 (Fla. 1973) (same); <u>State v. Fuller</u>, 455 So.2d 357

- 9 -

(Fla. 1984) (same); Murray v. State, 491 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1986) (same); Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978) (lawful homicide); State v. Smith, 573 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1990) (same); Banda v. State, 536 So. 2d 221 (Fla. 1988) (same); Smith v. State, 521 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1988) (disapproved SJI on insanity); Hodges v. State, 619 So. 2d 272 (Fla. 1993) (SJI on aggravating factor in death case); Stewart v. State, 420 So. 2d 862, 863 (Fla. 1982) (charged offense of robbery); State v. Delva, 575 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 1991) (charged offense of trafficking in cocaine).

In <u>Hodges</u>, this Court, once again, made it unmistakably clear that a defendant could not raise one ground in the trial court and pursue a different ground on appeal:

> The [United States Supreme] Court found the former standard instruction on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator insufficient in Espinosa. That aggravator played no part in Hodges' sentencing; the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator, however, did. Hodges argued to the trial court that the facts of his case did not support finding that latter aggravator [CCP] and that the aggravator itself was unconstitutionally The trial court gave the standard vaque. instruction on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator, but Hodges did not object to the form of that instruction, nor did he request an expanded instruction on this aggravator.

The contemporaneous objection rule applies to <u>Espinosa</u> error, i.e., a specific objection on the form of the instruction must be made to the trial court to preserve the issue for appeal. <u>Despite the failure to object at</u> <u>trial, Hodges challenged the</u> <u>constitutionality of the cold, calculated</u> <u>instruction on appeal.</u> We summarily found the issue meritless, but we should have held it procedurally barred because Hodges did not preserve it for review by objecting at trial. Therefore, we now hold that the sufficiency of the cold, calculated instruction has not been preserved for review. [citations omitted]

#### Id., 619 So. 2d at 273 (e.s.).

Turning to the facts in the instant case, defense counsel objected to the instruction on inconsistent exculpatory statements because (1) commission of the act (firing fatal shot) was not in dispute, and (2) the inconsistent statements were made when the defendant was confused and under stress. These were factual distinctions, not legal grounds. Presumably defense counsel was trying to argue that the instruction was unnecessary because it related to an undisputed issue, and the presumption was irrational under the circumstances of the case. Whether the trial court fully understood the import of defense counsel's arguments is not entirely clear. What is clear though is that defense counsel was not even remotely arguing that the instruction was improper because it was a judicial comment on the evidence. It would be another eight months before Fenelon v. State, 594 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 1992) was decided. The First District expressly held that the issue was not preserved for appeal. It, nevertheless, certified to this Court the question whether the jury instruction constituted an improper judicial comment on the evidence.

In his initial brief in this Court, Salgat has attacked the jury instruction on six grounds. He contends that (1) the instruction was a judicial comment on the evidence; (2) no policy

reason exists for singling out inconsistent exculpatory stories; (3) it is difficult to determine when inconsistent exculpatory stories indicate consciousness of guilt; (4) courts are confused in determining what quantum and type of evidence supports the instruction; (5) the instruction was inaccurate under the circumstances of the instant case; and (6) the instruction was incomplete because it failed to inform the jury that there may be reasons for giving inconsistent exculpatory statements consistent with innocence. Salgat also tries to bootstrap onto this issue the flight instruction, to which no objection was made. He argues that the flight instruction should not have been given, and that this error must be considered in conjunction with the error at issue here.

Salgat asserts that these grounds were preserved in the trial court by defense counsel's statement, "I in general would object to that," and "I object to the state's requested No. 3." (I.B. 22-24) He further contends that a specific objection was unnecessary because the judge would have denied it anyway. Salgat's failure to cite authority for these novel propositions is understandable, because there is none, and, in fact, the law is expressly to the contrary. Fla.R.Crm.P. 3.390(d); Hodges.

Since the certified question, which relates to only one of the above grounds, was not preserved for appeal, and since this Court routinely refuses to review errors in jury instructions under the fundamental error doctrine, the State urges this Court to decline to accept jurisdiction in this case.

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